Report submitted to the United States Agency for International Development Cooperative Agreement No. EEM-A-00-03-00006-00



Submitted by: Sandra Brown, Project Coordinator



Ecosystem Services Unit 1621 N. Kent St, Suite 1200 Arlington, VA 22209

Email: sbrown@winrock.org

Executive Summary

The harvesting of timber from forests is a central part of the economy of tropical nations as is exemplified by the case of the Republic of Congo. Land use change in the tropics contributes up to 25 % of current international CO_2 emissions. Monitoring of logging activities therefore serves an important function. This report develops and presents methods for evaluating the carbon impact of selective logging in the tropics, with the purpose of facilitating the monitoring of forest management and improving understanding of the global carbon cycle.

The aim of the study was to derive factors to link reported data and aerial imagery with carbon impact. Our study site was the 2004 logging sites of Congolaise Industrielle du Bois (CIB), a Swiss-German timber company in the north of the Republic of Congo. During the course of the study a methodology was developed that can be applied to other areas and regions practicing selective logging. The size of the gap, and the dimensions of the felled tree and the commercial log, was determined in 99 logging gaps in the Republic of Congo, plus we recorded data on all trees severely damaged or killed as a result of the treefall. In addition we calculated the carbon impact of both skid trails and logging roads.

The mean diameter of extracted trees was 123 cm and length was 22 m. This compares with 70 cm and 11 m in a similar study in Bolivia. The mean extracted volume per logging gap was 25.1 m³.

Winrock collected three-dimensional aerial digital imagery over 1,194 ha of the 2004 CIB logging concessions. This approximates 10 % of the total 2004 logging area. Employing the derived scaling factors we estimate that, across the concession, 11 m³ are extracted per ha, or the equivalent of 0.53 trees/ha. The data reveals the total biomass carbon affected by logging practices in the CIB concessions in the Republic of Congo is equal to 10.20 t C/ha of concession or 37.40 t CO_2 e/ha.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	4
STUDY AREA	5
METHODS	7
General Approach Field measurements	
RESULTS	14
Timber extracted	14
DISCUSSION	15
Comparison between selectively logged sites Scaling factors Impact of logging on the carbon budget Incorporation of Aerial Data	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	20
REFERENCES	20

List of Figures and Tables

FIGURE 1. LOCATION OF THE STUDY AREA: CIB LOGGING CONCESSIONS IN THE REPUBLIC OF CONGO	.5
FIGURE 2. A CUT TIMBER TREE	.6
FIGURE 3. THE BRANCHES LEFT IN THE FOREST AFTER TIMBER EXTRACTION	.7
FIGURE 4. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF CARBON FLOW AS A RESULT OF SELECTIVE HARVEST IN THE TROPICS	.8
FIGURE 5. EXTRACTED TIMBER LOGS	.9
FIGURE 6. PROCESSED TIMBER READY FOR EXPORT.	10
FIGURE 7. A SECTION OF THE CIB LOGGING CONCESSION. THE 25 HA LOGGING BLOCKS (250 M X 1000 M) ARE ILLUSTRATED	•
LOGGING ROADS ARE SHOWN IN ORANGE. SITES OF LOGGING GAPS WHERE MEASUREMENTS WERE TAKEN ARE	
ILLUSTRATED BY BLACK DOTS.	11
FIGURE 8. PART OF THE CIB LOGGING CONCESSION SHOWING 25 HA LOGGING BLOCKS AND THE LOCATION OF SIX MEASURED)
SKID TRAILS AND THE EXIT POINT TO THE LOGGING ROAD OF ALL SKID TRAILS	12
FIGURE 9. EXAMPLES OF SKID TRAILS IN CIB CONCESSION	12
FIGURE 10. A LOGGING ROAD IN THE CIB CONCESSION IN CONGO	13
TABLE 1. COMPONENTS MEASURED/ESTIMATED FROM THE LOGGING OPERATIONS IN THE CIB CONCESSION. ALL VALUES ARE	l
MEAN \pm 95 % CONFIDENCE INTERVAL. (THE VOLUME PER GAP IS HIGHER THAN VOLUME PER TREE BECAUSE IN 19 PLOTS	;
MORE THAN 1 TREE WAS FELLED.)	14
TABLE 2. ESTIMATION FACTORS FOR LINKING VOLUME EXTRACTED AND/OR AREA OF CANOPY GAP WITH EXTRACTED VOLUMI	Е
AND BIOMASS CARBON AND DAMAGED BIOMASS CARBON FROM LOGGING OPERATIONS IN THE CIB CONCESSION,	
REPUBLIC OF CONGO. ONE MG = ONE METRIC TON	15
FIGURE 11. RELATIONSHIPS FOR FOUR PANTROPICAL SITES BETWEEN COMMERCIAL LOG LENGTH AND THE RATIO BETWEEN	
BIOMASS CARBON EXTRACTED AND DAMAGED	16
FIGURE 12. A LOGGING GAP RECORDED IN THE DIGITAL IMAGERY	18
FIGURE 13. STRIPS OF AERIAL IMAGERY SHOWING LOGGING DAMAGE, IN B THE AREAS OF DAMAGE ARE DELINEATED. THE	
IMAGERY IS DESIGNED TO BE SEEN IN THREE DIMENSIONS AND SO SOME OF THE POLYGONS ARE OFFSET WHEN SEEN IN TW	'O
DIMENSIONS	19
TABLE 3. THE TOTAL CARBON IMPACT AND THE CARBON IMPACT PER HECTARE AS CALCULATED FROM AERIAL IMAGERY	
ANALYZED FROM 1,194 HA OF FOREST IN 2004 CONCESSION AREA	20

INTRODUCTION

Commercial logging of native forests is integral to the economies, and central to the development, of many tropical nations (FAO 2003). Internationally there is interest in improved forest management, in particular changes to reduced impact logging, motivated by biodiversity conservation, sustainable forest management, timber certification, and even the potential for increasing carbon stocks and obtaining carbon credits.

Monitoring changes in carbon stocks serves as a method of assessing the impact of forest management activities, and also helps determine the role forest harvesting plays in the global carbon cycle. Land-use changes in the tropics are a significant source of atmospheric CO_2 , contributing up to about 25% of current fossil fuel CO_2 emissions (Prentice et al. 2001). Logging in the tropics tends to be selective, so the impact of harvest is hard to quantify and consequently current estimates of the effects of tropical forest management are likely to be inaccurate.

Monitoring of legal and illegal logging has several purposes. For example, assessments are needed of the integrity of conserved areas, such as National Parks, with regard to incursions by loggers, or, where a logging concession has been granted, there may be a need to assess whether that concession is being fulfilled within the contractual constraints. Alternatively, in the future it is envisioned that a premium will be paid for timber that is certified to come from a sustainably managed forest. To maintain the value of the certification, monitoring would have to be carried out.

In this study we concentrated on carbon stocks, which can be used as a proxy for other monitoring purposes. To monitor logging impacts on carbon stocks, factors are required to link reported data or readily monitored components with the total carbon impact. The two most obvious factors for correlation are volume extracted (which is widely reported) and gap size (which can be determined remotely). Correlation factors can be created through an initial set of ground measurements. To our knowledge only one study has created factors linking gap size or volume extracted with biomass damaged (Brown et al. 2000). Many studies have examined logging and associated damage both in conventional and reduced impact scenarios; however, these studies have largely focused on the number of trees damaged (e.g. Uhl and Vieira 1989, Uhl et al 1991, Verissimo et al. 1991, White 1994). The study of Pinard and Putz (1996) detailed the carbon impact, but not in the context of gap size or even volume of timber extracted.

This study focuses on the logging concessions of CIB (Congolaise Industrielle du Bois), located in the forests of the northern Republic of Congo in Central Africa.

In this study we aimed to estimate the net impact of selective logging on the forest carbon stocks by :

- 1) estimating on a gap-by-gap basis extracted volumes, the biomass carbon from the timber tree that remains in the forest, and the incidental carbon damage to surrounding vegetation; and
- 2) creating relationships between volume extracted, the size of canopy gap caused by logging and the carbon impact.

We then discuss how such data and relationships can be used to estimate the impact of logging on the total carbon budget, using such information as timber extraction rates or area and number of felling gaps from aerial imagery.

STUDY AREA

The study area was the 2004-harvest forest zones operated from the Ndoki 2 logging camp of Congolaise Industrielle des Bois (CIB), a Swiss-German timber company, in Sangha Province in the northern Republic of Congo (hereafter referred to as Congo)(Figure 1). The elevation of the area is approximately 450 meters above sea level, with gentle to flat topography. The mean annual rainfall is about 1300 mm with a mild dry season of 2-3 months. The forest concession contains trees as large as 3.5 m diameter at breast height, reaching heights in excess of 50 m. Trees, with a dbh of between 80 and 220 cm, of up to 20 timber species are felled.



Figure 1. Location of the study area: CIB logging concessions in the Republic of Congo

In the region, logging operations are selective and the trees are felled with a chainsaw (Figure 2) and extracted from the forest by skid trails and roads. Once the timber tree is felled, the crews extract the portion of the tree that is commercially valuable. The skidder follows shortly after and extracts the cut section. The rest of the timber tree (branches, crown, stump) is left behind in the forest, along with other dead trees damaged during felling (Figure 3).



Figure 2. A cut timber tree



Figure 3. The branches left in the forest after timber extraction

METHODS

General Approach

The carbon impact of logging is calculated as the difference in carbon stocks between a forest that has been harvested and one that is not. Our method is to focus on the logging gaps. To estimate the change in live biomass, one could measure the live biomass in a concession before a block was logged and then again after it was logged; the difference would give the change in the live biomass C. However, the main problem with this approach is that two large C pools are being compared, and although the error on each pool could be small, the error on the difference, expressed as a percent, will be much larger. It is more appropriate to measure the change in live and dead biomass pools due to logging directly in the harvesting gaps. The change in live and dead biomass between the with- and without-logging cases is a result of the extraction of timber and damage to residual trees from the logging activities.

Estimating the carbon impact is more complex than just recording the change in live biomass. Ultimately, the entire timber tree and all trees incidentally damaged will be oxidized. However, in the immediate term carbon that progresses from live to dead wood is only emitted once decomposition has occurred, and the portion of the timber tree that is converted to long term wood products will not be emitted for the life time of the products (Figure 4).

The difference in carbon stocks between with- and without-logging scenarios equals:

(biomass carbon removed during logging + biomass carbon damaged/dead as a result of logging)

- (damaged/dead biomass carbon -decomposition of damaged/dead biomass)
- (wood products biomass carbon wood products decomposition)

[1]

An additional term could be added if it was found that there was a growth differential between the logged area and adjacent unlogged areas (the term would consist of adding or subtracting the growth differential per year for the given area of logging gaps for the given number of years of growth difference). We also assume that selective logging has no impact on soil carbon over a large concession because of the small area impacted.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of carbon flow as a result of selective harvest in the tropics

In this study we focused on the carbon impact of felling and extracting the timber. We did not trace the processes of decomposition of dead wood or wood products, nor was the conversion efficiency of processing mills included. Instead we estimated factors to determine the volume and biomass carbon extracted from the forest and the biomass carbon remaining in the forest to decompose. We discuss the effect of including decomposition of the dead biomass and the proportion going into long term wood products on the net change in carbon stocks on the forest.



Figure 5. Extracted timber logs



Figure 6. Processed timber ready for export.

Field measurements

Timber extraction

A total of 99 selective logging gaps were examined in Congo in October 2004 (Figure 7).

Four measurements were taken on each timber tree: the diameters at both the stump and crown ends of each commercial log, the length of the commercial log and the diameter at breast height (dbh) of the tree. Measurements were made before the log was skidded out (cut marks for the commercial log had already been made by the logging crew).

Volume of the extracted log was calculated by multiplying length by the average of the cross-sectional areas at the foot and crown ends of each log. Biomass of the commercial log was calculated by multiplying the estimated volume by the wood density. A species-specific density was used when the species was identified or a mean tree density when the species was not known (0.58 Mg m⁻³; Brown 1997). Here and throughout this study carbon is approximated as biomass x 0.5.



Figure 7. A section of the CIB logging concession. The 25 ha logging blocks (250 m x 1000 m) are illustrated. Logging roads are shown in orange. Sites of logging gaps where measurements were taken are illustrated by black dots.

We estimated the total (aboveground) biomass of the felled tree by applying a general moist tropical biomass regression equation (Biomass (kg) = $\exp\{-2.289+2.649*\ln(dbh)-0.021*(\ln(dbh)^2)\}$; r2 = 0.97; n = 172; range = 5-148 cm dbh) to the dbh. Finally the biomass of the tree crown and stump was estimated by subtracting the biomass of the extracted log from the total biomass of the felled tree.

The area of the logging gaps was estimated as the area with unimpeded direct vertical penetration of light. A best approximation was made of the shape of the gap, and the necessary dimensions to estimate the area were recorded.

Incidental-damage measurements

Damaged trees were those trees that were severely impacted by tree fall. Damage trees were classified as either 1) snapped stem or 2) uprooted. To estimate the amount of damaged vegetation in each plot, the general biomass equation (see above) was applied to measurements of dbh of the damaged trees. The minimum breast height diameter for measurement was 10 cm. During the felling of a large timber tree it is possible that large branches could be broken off from neighboring surviving trees. However, careful inspection in each plot to the best of our ability recorded such events in only one plot; in this case the biomass carbon of the branches was also estimated based on volume estimation and subsamples for wood density.

The total damage caused by logging was calculated as the sum of the biomass of the crown and stump of the felled tree, plus the biomass of snapped and uprooted trees.

Estimation Factors

To estimate carbon impact from readily available indicators, we created factors linking: 1) extracted volume with extracted biomass and damaged biomass left as dead wood in the forest and, 2) area of logging gaps and extracted volume, extracted biomass and damaged biomass left as dead wood in the forest.

Skid trails and Logging Roads

An additional carbon impact results from the construction of roads and skid trails for extracting timber from the forest (Figure 8,9,10).

In the field in Congo, we measured the dbh of all trees killed or severely damaged along ten skid trails (totaling 3.8 km). Using the general biomass equation of Brown (1997) we were then able to calculate the biomass carbon damaged per meter of skid trail for each of the ten trails.



Figure 8. Part of the CIB logging concession showing 25 ha logging blocks and the location of six measured skid trails and the exit point to the logging road of all skid trails



Figure 9. Examples of skid trails in CIB concession





Roads are also used to transport the logs. We aimed to calculate the impact of logging roads through correlating area of roads (measured using imagery), with a measured stock for unlogged forest per unit area.

Figure 10. A logging road in the CIB concession in Congo

In Congo we estimated a mature forest stock by measuring 10 nested plots in forest that had not yet been logged within the CIB logging concessions. The schematic diagram below represents a three-nest circular sampling plot that we used in Congo for biomass determination.



Data and analyses at the plot level are extrapolated to the area of a full hectare to produce carbon stock estimates. Extrapolation by use of expansion factors occurs by calculating the proportion of a hectare that is occupied by a given plot. As an example, if a series of nested circles measuring 4 m, 14 m and 20 m in radius were used, their areas are equal to 50 m^2 , 616 m^2 and $1,257 \text{ m}^2$ respectively. The expansion factors for converting the plot data to a hectare basis are 198.9 for the smallest, 16.2 for the intermediate and 8.0 for the largest nested circular plot.

RESULTS

Timber extracted

In the 99 logging impact plots in the CIB concession, 120 trees were harvested representing eight different timber species. Eighty of the logging impact plots consisted of a single harvested tree, and nineteen plots had more than one tree harvested in an area. Easily the most numerous species, among the felled trees, was *Entandrophragma cylindricum* (69.2 %) followed by *Entandrophragma angolense* (7.5 %).

Table 1. Components measured/estimated from the logging operations in the CIB concession. All values are mean \pm 95 % confidence interval. (The volume per gap is higher than volume per tree because in 19 plots more than 1 tree was felled.)

	Mean	95 % CI
DBH (cm)	122.9	±4.02
Commercial log length (m)	22.2	±0.81
Volume / tree (m ³)	20.7	±1.66
Volume / gap (m ³)*	25.1	±2.86
Extracted biomass carbon (t C)	6.82	±0.79
Damaged biomass carbon (t C)	10.77	±1.37
Extracted timber as % of total tree biomass	50.3 %	±2.1

The mean size of the logging gaps was 719 m², with a range of 0 (closed canopy) to 2,769 m². The zero for the area of a logging gap in Congo represents one site where the treefall failed to do sufficient damage to the surrounding canopy to cause an opening. The mean dimensions of the logged timber trees were 123 cm dbh (range 84-211 cm), with a 22 m bole length (range 8.4-30.0 m), an extracted volume of 25.1 m³ and an extracted biomass carbon of 6.82 Mg (Table 1).

Incidental damage

During measurements in 2004, 727 trees were recorded as severely damaged in the 99 logging impact plots. Of the damaged trees, 65 % had their stem snapped and 35 % were uprooted. Thirty-three percent of the damaged trees were measured in the minimum diameter class (10-19.9 cm).

Damage per Mg (1 Mg= 1 metric ton) extracted ranged from 0.63 to 10.39. Analysis of the logging impact plots with more than one harvested tree showed no significant difference from single stump plots (ANOVA; p>0.05). Mean amount of biomass carbon damaged per Mg C extracted was 1.5 for the multi-stem plots and 1.8 for single stump plots. The contribution of crown and stump biomass (i.e. portions of the tree not extracted at harvest) to total damage carbon biomass was high (66.0 % \pm 3.6; mean \pm 95 % confidence interval). On average, the amount of damage per Mg of timber extracted was 1.74 Mg.

Factors

In Congo, every cubic meter of timber extracted was equivalent to 0.27 Mg C extracted. In terms of damage, 0.46 Mg C were damaged and left to decompose in the forest for each cubic meter of commercial timber (Table 3, Figure 2). For every square meter of gap area 0.044 m³ or 12.10 kg C were extracted, and 18.52 kg C were damaged and left to decompose in the forest (Table 2).

Table 2. Estimation factors for linking volume extracted and/or area of canopy gap with extracted volume and biomass carbon and damaged biomass carbon from logging operations in the CIB concession, Republic of Congo. One Mg = one metric ton

	Factor	95% CI
Mg C extracted / m ³ extracted	0.27	±0.004
Mg C damaged / m ³ extracted	0.46	±0.05
Mg C damaged / Mg C extracted	1.74	±0.22
m ³ extracted / m ² of gap area	0.0444	±0.0057
Kg C extracted / m ² of gap area	12.10	±1.58
Kg C damaged / m ² of gap area	18.52	±2.29

Skid Trails and Logging Roads

Along ten skid trails (totaling 3.8 km), we determined a carbon impact equal to 6.83 kg C/m of skid trail \pm 2.44 kg C/m (mean \pm 95 % confidence interval).

From 10 plots in mature unlogged forest we estimated a carbon stock equal to 276.7 Mg C/ha \pm 103.9 (n = 10, mean \pm 95 % confidence interval). This is equal to 0.028 Mg C per m² of road area.

DISCUSSION

Comparison between selectively logged sites

Comparable results on the carbon impact of logging from other studies are very limited. The majority of studies tallied damaged stems rather than estimating biomass (e.g. Uhl and Vieira 1989, Uhl et al. 1991, Verissimo et al 1991, White 1994). In one other published study calculating damaged biomass, Pinard and Putz (1996) recorded 2.3 Mg damaged per Mg extracted from conventional logging in Sabah, Malaysia. In separate studies using identical methods, we estimated carbon damage of 3.1 Mg per Mg extracted in closed forest in Belize (unpublished data) and 2.78 Mg per Mg extracted in Bolivia (Pearson et al. 2005).

The damage values are highest in the studies in Central and South America, followed by Malaysia, and by Congo. One explanation may be the extracted proportion of the timber tree. In Bolivia, the mean bole length was only

10.8 m and the proportion of the total aboveground tree biomass that was extracted was just 40.1 %. In Belize, the mean bole length was just 9.8 m and the proportion extracted was 34.3 %. In Belize, therefore, there was a smaller proportion extracted and consequently a higher amount of damage per extraction. In Malaysia the timber trees were tall dipterocarps, consequently the bole lengths at Pinard and Putz's study site averaged 17.0 m (Tay 1996) and in the conventional logging areas the extracted proportion was 49 % of the preharvest biomass (Pinard and Putz 1996), resulting in lower mean damage per Mg extracted. Finally in Congo the mean bole length was 22 m and over 50 % is extracted leading to the lowest mean damage per extraction of all the sites (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Relationships for four pantropical sites between commercial log length and the ratio between biomass carbon extracted and damaged

However, the damage to non-harvested tree biomass was also higher in Bolivia in relation to extracted biomass than in Congo. Two complimentary explanations for the difference in biomass damage between the sites may be the relative maturity of the forests and the presence or absence of lianas. In forests, such as those in Congo, where multiple trees per hectare are more than 1 meter in diameter, the density of non-commercial vegetation tends to be low. This low density results in a lower chance of the falling tree impacting surrounding trees and causing incidental damage. In fact, in Bolivia in each logging gap there were an average of 10.4 trees incidentally severely damaged, in Congo the average number of trees was 7.3. The presence of lianas may also be a cause of additional damage as liana connections cause additional treefalls simultaneous to the timber tree. Lianas were present in the forest in Bolivia but were not encountered in Congo.

Scaling factors

Estimation factors are presented that link volume extracted to biomass carbon extracted and biomass carbon damaged (Table 2). Volume extracted is a standard reported measure for forestry operations around the world. A potential problem could exist, however, with relying on reported volumes as: not all trees cut are extracted (up to 7 % of felled trees were not extracted in the Eastern Amazon; Holmes et al. 1999); records of extraction in some cases may be poor; and illegal extractions cannot be monitored. As an alternative, estimation factors are also detailed (Table 2) relating area of damage to extraction and carbon damage. These factors could be used in combination with aerial imagery to create a record not subject to the same doubts (aerial imagery has been collected in CIB concession and is in process of being interpreted).

For skid trails we estimated a mean carbon damage of 6.83 kg C per meter of skid trail. This impact is low because skid trails are narrow and skidders detour around large trees. The impact is lowered even further when it is considered that multiple extracted logs will likely use a single skid trail. If the trails measured represent a reasonable average for logging in the CIB concession, meaning skid trail length is 380 m, and if each skid trail is used by an estimated six trees, this represents an additional carbon impact equal to 2.6 Mg C / skid trail or 0.43 Mg C per harvested timber tree. We are aware of no comparable study.

For a given area of logged forest, with its associated number and area of roads, we would argue that the carbon impact of the roads is also low. In Congo the 'feeder' logging roads are 25 m wide (FAO 1997); so that a 400 m of road would be formed by clearing one hectare of forest. In Bolivia the same road-type is just 4 m wide (J. Torrico, CINMA forestry concession, Bolivia, personal communication), so that a 2500 m road would be formed by clearing 1 ha of forest. The impact of road building is reduced if it is considered that merchantable trees in the path of the road would be harvested rather than being left to decompose. CIB in Congo, on average, cuts and extracts between 1 and 2.5 (maximum) trees per hectare (Olivier Desmet, CIB, personal communication), which is equivalent to between 5.6 and 14.1 t C/ha of extracted timber. We estimate therefore that a 400 m road would lead to a carbon impact of 276 Mg C minus up to 14.1 Mg C or a net impact of 262 Mg C.

Impact of logging on the carbon budget

Equation 1 represents the total impact of logging on the forest carbon budget. In this study we have developed methods for determining the biomass carbon extracted and the biomass carbon damaged/dead as a result of logging. Additional components in the budget include any growth differential that arises between the logged and unlogged areas of forest, delayed mortality of damaged trees, and finally the consideration of the decomposition/oxidation of damaged biomass and the long term products arising from the extracted biomass.

Missing from our analysis is a determination of any differential in growth between logged and unlogged areas. Either the increased light in gaps could lead to increased growth relative to the surrounding forest, or the removal of the large timber tree or trees, which would previously have dominated biomass accumulation, could lower the mean rate of accumulation relative to uncut areas. In a study in Bolivia we looked at this issue (Brown et al. 2003) by measuring surviving trees in a zone incorporating the logging gap and a 5 m area around the gap, and pairing these measurements with measurements in adjacent unlogged plots. Measurements were taken immediately after harvest and again four years later. The rate of biomass accumulation was depressed in the logged plots. In the four years after harvest, the unlogged plots were accumulating carbon at a rate of 2.5 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ as opposed to 1.3 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in the harvested plots. Over the 21.3 ha of logging gaps measured from the air in Bolivia (see above) this would create a carbon impact of 27.7 Mg. It remains unclear whether this effect can be extrapolated to other sites, such as we measured in Congo, nor do we know whether the effect will continue or even will be reversed beyond this four-year period. To our knowledge no one has carried out a comparable study.

Also missing from this analysis is a verification of the mortality of the severely damaged trees or an indication of the mortality of trees with minor damage. It could be expected that a proportion of snapped and uprooted trees would resprout. Pinard and Putz (1996) found that 82 % of trees that were snapped had resprouted 8-12 months after logging. Our own plots in Bolivia were revisited four years after logging (Brown et al. 2003), and we found that 64 % of snapped trees and 12 % of uprooted trees had resprouted. However, we would argue that, in terms of carbon, whether or not a tree resprouts is immaterial as the biomass present aboveground in the tree still enters the dead wood pool. A more serious missing factor may be lack of mortality data on minorly damaged trees. In Bolivia, 283 trees or an additional 28 % were impacted in a minor way, 80 (28 %) of these trees had died by the time of remeasurement four years later but the carbon impact is low because all had a dbh of less than 50 cm and 79 % had a dbh of less than 20 cm.

For conservation purposes, for the monitoring of concessions, and for forest certification, the destination of the dead wood and the extracted timber is less important. It matters, however, for carbon analyses. The immediate impact of logging to the atmosphere is diminished when it is considered that neither the dead wood pool in the forest, nor the extracted timber, in the form of the long-term product pool, are instantaneously oxidized. Instead, a proportion is oxidized each year forming a diminishing additional atmospheric input. It is not practical to track the decomposition of dead wood or wood products. Instead, decomposition/oxidation is modeled as a simple exponential function based on mass of dead wood/wood products and a decomposition coefficient (proportion decomposed per year).

The decomposition coefficient for dead wood is assumed to range from 0.05 - 0.12/yr based on literature sources for the tropics (Brown 1997, Delaney et al. 1998). As an example of the relevant calculations, we assume an extraction of 100 m³ of timber per year. Using the damage factors given above, this results in a total of reduction of live biomass of 74.0 Mg C, of which 47.0 Mg C enters the dead wood pool. Assuming an efficiency of 40% for the conversion of logs to long-term wood products (Winjum et al. 1998), this results in 11 Mg C/yr entering the long-term product pool. Combining all the changes according to equation 1 above, the net impact of harvesting

100 m³ of timber after one year is a net emission of 18.7 and 20.5 Mg C, for a decomposition rate of 5% and 10% respectively. Through time the dead wood pool increases and eventually levels off with the net change in this pool decreasing through time. After 30 years of continuous extraction of 100 m³/yr, total timber extracted would be $3,000 \text{ m}^3$, live biomass would be reduced by 2,219 Mg C, damaged biomass would be 1,409 Mg C, the dead wood pool would have emitted 661 Mg C (using the conservative 5% decomposition rate in the typical exponential model of decomposition), the amount of carbon transferred to the wood product pool would be 324 Mg C, and the net emissions would be 1,147 Mg C. In other words, over a 30 year logging cycle, 0.38 Mg C would be emitted per cubic meter of timber harvested. Thus if a decision were made to stop logging and protect the forests instead, the net carbon benefit would be 0.38 Mg C per cubic meter of timber not harvested.

Incorporation of Aerial Data

In December 2004, Winrock International collected aerial imagery over 2004 logging areas. After data collection, analysis was conducted to determine the area of gaps and roads and the length of skid trails captured in the imagery. In Figure 12 a logging gap is shown at a high resolution. In Figure 13, the same strip of forest is shown twice, in B the gaps, roads and skid trails are delineated.



Figure 12. A logging gap recorded in the digital imagery



Figure 13. Strips of aerial imagery showing logging damage, in B the areas of damage are delineated. The imagery is designed to be seen in three dimensions and so some of the polygons are offset when seen in two dimensions

In our analysis of the imagery (full report to follow), 1,194 ha of the 2004 logging concession have been examined, or 10% of the area delineated for logging. From the analysis we calculated an extraction of 13,109 m³ \pm 813 (mean \pm 95 % confidence interval), which is equal to 11.0 m³ per hectare of concession \pm 0.68 (mean \pm 95 % confidence interval. In Table 3 the total carbon impact on this area and the carbon impact per hectare of concession is presented.

Table 3. The total carbon impact and the carbon impact per hectare as calculated from aerial imagery analyzed from1,194 ha of forest in 2004 concession area

	Total carbon impact		Impact per ha of concession	
	t C		t C/ha	
Extracted biomass carbon	3,542	± 232	2.96	± 0.19
Damaged biomass carbon in logging gap	5,464	± 321	4.58	± 0.27
Damaged biomass carbon in skid trails	112	±9	0.09	± 0.007
Biomass carbon impact of logging roads	3,056	± 634	2.56	± 0.53
TOTAL	12,174	± 1,195	10.20	± 1.00

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A very great number of people have been involved in the development of the ideas behind this work and in physically collecting the necessary data. We wish to thank Mirko Meoli and the staff of CIB, Alphonse Ongagna of the Centre de Recherche Forestiere de Ouesso, and Angelique Loukondo of the Centre National d'Inventaire et d'Amenagement des Ressources Forestieres et Fauniques for their efforts in the field in Congo. For logistical assistance in Congo we thank Sarah and Paul Elkan of WCS, Olivier Desmet and Dominique Paget of CIB, and Germain Kombo of the Ministere de l'Economie Forestiere et de l'Environement. We are grateful to Michelle Pinard for providing us with data from her work in Malaysia.

REFERENCES

- Brown, S. 1997. Estimating biomass and biomass change of tropical forests: a primer. FAO Forestry Paper 134, Rome, Italy.
- Brown, S., Burnham, M, Delaney, M., Vaca, R., Powell, M., and Moreno, A. 2000. Issues and challenges for forest-based carbon-offset projects: a case study of the Noel Kempff Climate Action Project in Bolivia. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Climate Change 5:99-121.
- Brown, S., Pearson, T., Delaney, M., Shoch, D., Vaca, R., and Quispe, J. 2003. The 2003 carbon offsets analysis and status report for the Noel Kempff Climate Action Project. Report to the Nature Conservancy, November 2003.

- Delaney, M., Brown, S., Lugo A.E., Torres-Lezama, A., and Bello Quintero, N. 1998. The quantity and turnover of dead wood in permanent forest plots in six life zones of Venezuela. Biotropica **30**:2-11.
- Food and Agriculture Organisation. 2003. State of the World's Forests 2003. ISBN 92-5-104865-7. pp 100
- Food and Agriculture Organisation. 1997. Forest harvesting in natural forests of the Republic of Congo. Forest Harvesting Case Studies 07.
- Holmes, T.P., Blake, G.M., Zweede, J.C., Pereira, R., Barreto, P., Boltz, F. and Bauch, R. 1999. Financial costs and benefits of reduced-impact logging relative to conventional logging in the eastern Amazon. Tropical Forest Foundation, Arlington, VA. 48pp.
- Killeen, T.J., Siles, T.M., Grimwood, T., Tieszen, L.L., Steininger, M.K., Tucker, C.J., and Panfil, S. 2002. Habitat herterogeneity on a forest-savanna ecotone in Noel Kempff Mercado National Park (Santa Cruz, Bolivia): implications for the long-term conservation of biodiversity in a changing climate. *In* How Landscapes Change: human disturbance and ecosystem fragmentation in the Americas. *Edited by* G.A. Bradshaw and P.A. Marquet. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, Germany. pp. 285-312.
- Pearson, T.R.H., Brown, S., Vaca, R., Quispe, J., Ambagis, S. and Shoch, D. 2005. Impact of selective logging on the carbon stocks of tropical forests: Bolivia and the Republic of Congo as case studies. Submitted to the Canadian Journal of Forest Research.
- Pearson, T., Brown, S., Vaca, R., Quispe, J., Slaymaker, D. and Moore, N. 2004. The use of multispectral 3D imagery and ground measurements to assess the carbon impacts of logging in tropical forests. *In* Abstracts from the 89th Annual Meeting of Ecological Society of America, Lessons of Lewis and Clark; Ecological Exploration of Inhabited Landscapes, 1-6 August 2004, Portland, Oregon.
- Pinard, M.A., and Putz, F.E. 1996. Retaining forest biomass by reducing logging damage. Biotropica 28: 278-295.
- Prentice, I.C., Farquhar, G.D., Fasham, M.J.R., Goulden, M.L., Heimann, M., Jaramillo, V.J., Le Quéré, C., Scholes, R.J., and Wallace, D.W.R.. 2001. The carbon cycle and atmospheric carbon dioxide. *In* Climate Change 2001; The Scientific Basis. *Edited by* D.L. Albritton and L.G. Meira Filho. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the IPCC, Cambridge University Press, pp. 183-237.
- Tay, J. 1996. Economic assessment of reduced impact logging techniques in Sabah, Malaysia. PhD Dissertation submitted to University of Wales, Bangor, UK.
- Uhl, C., and Vieira, I.C.G. 1989. Ecological impacts of selective logging in the Brazilian Amazon: A case study from the Paragominas regions of the state of Para. Biotropica **21**: 98-106.
- Uhl, C., Verissimo, A., Mattos, M.M., Brandino, Z., and Vieira, I.C.G. 1991. Social, economic and ecological consequences of selective logging in an Amazon frontier: the case of Tailândia. Forest Ecology and Management 46: 243-273.
- Verissimo, A., Barreto, P., Mattos, M., Tarifa, R., and Uhl, C. 1992. Logging impacts and prospects for sustainable forest management in an old Amazonian frontier: the case of Paragominas. Forest Ecology and Management 55: 169-199.
- White, L.J.T. 1994. The effects of commercial mechanised selective logging on a transect in lowland rainforest in the Lope Reserve, Gabon. Journal of Tropical Ecology **10**: 313-322.
- Winjum, J. K., Brown, S., and Schlamadinger, B. 1998. Forest harvests and wood products: sources and sinks of atmospheric carbon dioxide. Forest Science **44**:272-284.